IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER SC01-1397

ROLANDO VILLAZON, as Personal : Representative of the Estate of SU-SAN COHEN VILLAZON, deceased, :

Petitioner, :

vs. :

PRUDENTIAL HEALTH CARE PLAN, INC.,

:

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

MAIN BRIEF OF PETITIONER

James C. Blecke Counsel for Villazon Deutsch & Blumberg, P.A. New World Tower, Suite 2802 100 North Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33132 (305) 358-6329

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	N
SUMMARY STA	TEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
HMO'S, HEALT	H INSURANCE AND PREFERRED PROVIDERS 2
STATEMENT O	F THE CASE
STATEMENT O	F THE FACTS 7
SUMMARY OF A	ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT	
I.	THE PROVISION OF COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH CARE IS A NON-DELEGABLE DUTY MAKING PRUCARE LIABLE FOR THE NEGLI- GENCE OF THE PRUCARE PHYSICIANS
II.	STATE LAW CLAIMS AGAINST HMO'S AL- LEGING VICARIOUS LIABILITY FOR PHYSI- CIAN MALPRACTICE ARE NOT PREEMPTED BY ERISA
III.	AGENCY IS A QUESTION OF FACT PRECLUD- ING SUMMARY JUDGMENT 23
CONCLUSION .	
CERTIFICATE (OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE (OF COMPLIANCE 28

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Atchley v. First Union Bank of Florida, 576 So.2d 340 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991)
CISU of Florida, Inc. v. Porter, 457 So.2d 1118 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984)
City of Coral Gables v. Prats, 502 So.2d 969 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. den., 511 So.2d 297 (Fla. 1987)
Dukes v. U.S. Healthcare, Inc., 57 F.3d 350 (3d Cir. 1995)
Gordon v. Sanders, 692 So.2d 939 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997)
Hinterlong v. Baldwin, 720 N.E.2d 315 (Ill. App. 1999)
Hull v. Fallon, 188 F.3d 939 (8th Cir. 1999)
In re Estate of Frappier, 678 So.2d 884 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996)
In re: U.S. Healthcare, Inc., 193 F.3d 151 (3d Cir. 1999)
Irving v. Doctors Hospital of Lake Worth, Inc., 415 So.2d 55 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. den., 422 So.2d 842 (Fla. 1982)

Jaar v. University of Miami, 474 So.2d 239 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), rev. den., 484 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1986)
Jass v. Prudential Health Care Plan, Inc., 88 F.3d 1482 (7th Cir. 1996)
Lazorko v. Pennsylvania Hospital, 237 F.2d 242 (3d Cir. 2000)
Metrolimo, Inc. v. Lamm, 666 So.2d 552 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995)
Mills v. Krauss, 114 So.2d 817 (Fla. 2d DCA 1959), cert. den., 119 So.2d 293 (Fla.1960)
Orlando Executive Park, Inc. v. Robbins, 433 So.2d. 491 (Fla. 1983)
Orlando Regional Medical Center, Inc. v. Chmielewski, 573 So.2d 876 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), rev, den., 583 So.2d 1034, 1036 (Fla. 1991)
Pacificare of Oklahoma, Inc. v. Burrage, 59 F.3d 151 (10th Cir. 1995)
Pappas v. Asbel, 768 A.2d 1089 (Pa. 2001)
Paterno v. Albuerne, 855 F.Supp. 1263 (S.D. Fla. 1994)
Pegram v. Herdrich, 530 U.S. 211, 120 S.Ct. 2143, 147 L.Ed.2d 164 (2000)

Pryzbowski v. U.S. Healthcare, Inc., 245 F.3d 266 (3d Cir. 2001)
Rice v. Pachal, 65 F.3d 637 (7th Cir. 1995)
Stoll v. Noel, 694 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1997)
U.S. Security Services Corporation v. Ramada Inn, Inc., 665 So.2d 268 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), rev. den., 675 So.2d 121 (Fla. 1996)
Webb v. Priest, 413 So.2d 43 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982)
Weinstock v. Groth, 629 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1993)
Statutes, Rules and Regulations
Chapter 766, Medical Malpractice, Florida Statutes (2000) 4, 12
Florida Administrative Code, 4-191.024(4),(12),(21)
Florida Administrative Code, 4-191.069
Section 624.02, Florida Statutes (2000)
Section 624.603, Florida Statutes (2000)
Section 627.601, et seq., Florida Statutes (2000)
Section 627.6471, Florida Statutes (2000)

Section 627.6472, Florida Statutes (2000)
Section 627.6473, Florida Statutes (2000)
Section 641.17, et seq., Florida Statutes (2000)
Section 641.19(12), Florida Statutes (2000)
Section 641.19(13), Florida Statutes (2000)
Section 641.30(2), Florida Statutes (2000)
Section 766.102(1), Florida Statutes (2000)
Section 768.50(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1985)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER SC01-1397

ROLANDO VILLAZON, as Personal : Representative of the Estate of SU-

SAN COHEN VILLAZON, deceased, :

Petitioner, :

vs. :

PRUDENTIAL HEALTH CARE

PLAN, INC.,

:

Respondent.

<u>INTRODUCTION</u>

This main brief is filed on behalf of the plaintiff appellant, Rolando Villazon, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Susan Cohen Villazon, deceased ("Villazon"). The defendant appellee is Prudential Health Care Plan, Inc. ("PruCare"), Susan Villazon's Health Maintenance Organization.

SUMMARY STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Villazon brought this medical malpractice wrongful death action against PruCare and other health care providers. PruCare is an HMO and as such is a health care provider required to provide comprehensive health care. The sole claim against

PruCare was one of vicarious liability for the negligence of the various PruCare physicians, including PruCare's "Primary Care Physician" Dr. Sarnow. On motion for summary judgment, the trial court determined as a matter of law that the claims of vicarious liability were preempted by ERISA and the District Court affirmed. The District Court also held that there is no support for the proposition that PruCare had a non-delegable statutory and contractual duty to provide comprehensive health care.

HMO'S, HEALTH INSURANCE AND PREFERRED PROVIDERS

The hearing on the motion for summary judgment suggested trial court confusion over the difference between the responsibility of an HMO and a health insurance company. Comments about preferred provider health insurance were made at oral argument in the District Court. Although health insurance per se was not mentioned in the decisions below, clarification and distinction seem prudent.

"Insurance is a contract whereby one undertakes to indemnify another or pay or allow a specified amount or a determinable benefit upon determinable contingencies." Section 624.02, Florida Statutes (2000). Health insurance is insurance against the expense of bodily injury and sickness. Section 624.603, Florida Statutes (2000). Health insurance policies are governed by Section 627.601, et seq., Florida Statutes (2000). In sum and substance, health insurance companies pay health

insurance claims. Health insurance companies do not provide health care and are not health care providers.

Health insurance companies are authorized to establish relationships with "preferred providers," health care providers who agree to an alternative or reduced rate of payment. Section 627.6471, Florida Statutes (2000). Policy holders benefit from reduced deductibles or copayments when they select "preferred" providers over other providers of health care. Health insurers may also condition payment of benefits on the insured's exclusive use of preferred providers. Section 627.6472, Florida Statutes (2000). Hybrid policies are allowed. Section 627.6473, Florida Statutes (2000):

An insurer may issue a policy that provides coverage for certain benefits through a preferred provider network and other benefits through an exclusive provider network. With regard to the coverage provided through a preferred provider network, the requirements of s. 627.6471 apply, and with regard to the coverage provided through an exclusive provider network, the requirements of s. 627.6472 apply.

Health Maintenance Organizations are *not* health insurers. HMO's are health care providers, and are governed by Chapter 641, not Chapters 624 - 627, Florida Statutes (2000). "Except as provided in this part, the Florida Insurance Code

does not apply to health maintenance organizations certified under this part"

Section 641.30(2), Florida Statutes (2000).

HMO's are "health care providers" under Chapter 766, Medical Malpractice. Section 766.102(1), Florida Statutes (2000) (adopting by reference Section 768.50(2)(b), repealed). See, Weinstock v. Groth, 629 So.2d 835, 836-7 (Fla. 1993). By statutory definition, a Health Maintenance Organization, "Provides emergency care, inpatient hospital services, physician care . . . diagnostic treatment, and preventive health care services." Section 641.19(13), Florida Statutes (2000). A "Health Maintenance Contract" is a contract between an HMO and its subscribers "to provide comprehensive health care." Section 641.19(12), Florida Statutes (2000).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This wrongful death action was brought against PruCare, three PruCare physicians (Drs. Sarnow, Sellek, and Satz), and two dentists who failed to timely diagnose and treat Susan Villazon's tongue cancer, which ultimately spread and led to her death, leaving her husband and three sons as survivors (R. 1-29). Dr. Sarnow was the PruCare Primary Care Physician who failed to diagnose the tongue cancer, failed to properly refer Susan Villazon to an appropriate specialist, failed to follow up on

specialist referral, failed to obtain appropriate diagnostic tests, and overall failed to monitor Susan Villazon's health care.

Dr. Sellek was an employee of Dr. Sarnow's P.A., who was also involved in Susan Villazon's care on behalf of PruCare. Dr. Satz was a PruCare physician who saw Susan Villazon, suspected cancer, recommended a biopsy, but did not perform or order a biopsy. Dr. Satz never communicated his suspicion or recommendation to Susan Villazon, her primary care physician Dr. Sarnow, or to PruCare. Nor did Dr. Satz follow up to learn of the outcome of any biopsy or otherwise ensure that a biopsy was even done.¹

Count VI contains the only claim against PruCare. The relevant allegations are:

94. The Defendant, PRUDENTIAL HEALTH CARE PLAN, INC. is a health maintenance organization doing business in Dade County, Florida as defined by and governed by Section 641.17 et seq., Florida Statutes;

¹During the course of the litigation confidential settlements were reached with Dr. Satz, Dr. Sellek, and the dentists. The settlement with these other defendants was irrelevant to the issues raised in the motion and cross-motion for summary judgment. After entry of judgment for PruCare, Dr. Sarnow timely accepted a Rule 1.442 proposal for settlement, leaving PruCare as the lone defendant. The issue on remand will be limited to PruCare's responsibility for the negligence of Dr. Sarnow, the Prudential Primary Care Physician.

- Chapter 4-31, Florida Administrative Code; 42 U.S.C. Section 300(e); and 42 C.F.R. Part 417.
- 95. SUSAN COHEN VILLAZON was a PRUDENTIAL HEALTH CARE PLAN, INC. subscriber under a health maintenance contract by which PRUDENTIAL HEALTH CARE PLAN, INC. agreed to provide SUSAN COHEN VILLAZON with comprehensive health care services.
- 96. By statute, rule, and contract, the Defendant, PRU-DENTIAL HEALTH CARE PLAN, INC. had the non-delegable duty to provide SUSAN COHEN VILLAZON with quality health care including without limitation, inpatient and out-patient hospital services, and medical, surgical, diagnostic, x-ray, laboratory, nursing, physical therapy, and pharmaceutical services.
- 97. The Defendant, PRUDENTIAL HEALTH CARE PLAN, INC. contracted with Melvyn Sarnow, D.O., Basilio Garcia-Sellek, D.O. and Harvey S. Satz, D.M.D., to provide SUSAN COHEN VILLAZON with health care services, and PRUDENTIAL HEALTH CARE PLAN, INC. is responsible for any and all negligence, Melvyn Sarnow, D.O., Basilio Garcia-Sellek, D.O. and Harvey S. Satz, D.M.D. in the rendering of failure to render health care to SUSAN COHEN VILLAZON, as more specifically set forth herein.
- 98. The Defendant, PRUDENTIAL HEALTH CARE PLAN, INC. as set forth herein breached its duty to provide quality health care to SUSAN COHEN VILLAZON, resulting in her death.
- 99. As a result of the acts and conduct of the Defendant, PRUDENTIAL HEALTH CARE PLAN, INC., by and through its agents, apparent agents, employees, SUSAN

COHEN VILLAZON sustained injury and ultimately died on February 9, 1997.

PruCare moved for summary judgment alleging ERISA preemption and the absence of vicarious liability for Drs. Sarnow, Sellek, and Satz as "independent contractors." (R. 50-55). Villazon filed a cross-motion for summary judgment on PruCare's liability for its physicians as a matter of law (R. 56-60, 207-212). The trial court entered summary judgment for PruCare (R. 702) and the Third District affirmed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

As spelled out in PruCare's Primary Care Physician Capitation Agreement with Dr. Sarnow, the:

"Prudential Health Care System" (PHCS) means the health care delivery system resulting from a formal arrangement among The Prudential, Physicians and Health Care Providers, including those under contract to The Prudential as Participating Physicians or Participating Health Care Providers and those who are not participating.

PruCare is a provider of comprehensive health care and its health care delivery system includes both participating and non-participating health care providers.

PruCare contracts to provide primary health care through "Primary Care Physicians."

Prudential Primary Care Physicians are physicians who contract with Prudential to

provide health care in accordance with "the rules established by Medical Director and The Prudential for the utilization of health care services." Prudential Primary Care Physicians must "adhere, at minimum, to the standards set forth in The Manual, developed for such purpose."

Specifically, referrals between and among the Primary Care Physician, Participating Health Care Providers and Participating Physicians are controlled by Prudential's "Medical Director," a physician retained by Prudential "to coordinate and supervise the delivery of health care services for Covered Persons through Participating Physicians and Participating Health Care Providers" Prudential Primary Care Physicians also agree "to obtain pre-authorization from PHCS Medical Director before performing the diagnostic or therapeutic tests, procedures or treatments specified in the Manual as requiring pre-authorization."

It is the obligation and responsibility of Primary Care Physicians to provide or arrange health care services through Prudential Participating Physicians, and to "obtain approval from Medical Director *prior* to referral of a Covered Person to a Consultant (e.s.)." "Consultants" are physicians who are not under contract with Prudential, but provide services for subscribers upon referral from a Prudential Primary Care Physician.

Prudential Primary Care Physicians must refer subscribers to "Institutes of Quality Health Care," defined as a network of health care providers under contract with Prudential. "Referrals to an Institute of Quality Health Care Provider and/or Physician are subject to consultation with and approval of Medical Director. Primary Care Physician agrees to abide by the decision of Medical Director."

The deposition testimony of the PruCare representative, Dominick Messano (R. 61-206, 494-649), unequivocally establishes PruCare's responsibility for PruCare's physicians:

If a member is in the HMO, then the member must use a *Prudential physician* who is a member of the HMO. [p.31, e.s.].

Prudential makes the decision as to which providers will be part of our network. [p. 35].

For routine care members are required to select a physician in our network. [p. 35].

The HMO plan was designed to provide medical care to its members. [p. 39, e.s.].

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

By contract with a client, a general contractor agrees to provide a quality built home. The general contractor's only employee is its construction manager. The

general contractor uses separate and independent sub-contractors to pour the foundation, build the walls, install the plumbing, and raise the roof. If the roof leaks, the general contractor is responsible because the general contractor agreed to provide the client a quality built home. There is no independent sub-contractor defense.

PruCare was to provide Susan Villazon with comprehensive health care and PruCare provided health care through its network of PruCare physicians. Susan Villazon died because PruCare physicians negligently failed to diagnose or treat her cancer. PruCare is responsible for the quality of care provided by the PruCare physicians because PruCare agreed to provide comprehensive health care.

Vicarious liability exists for breach of a non-delegable duty created by statute or contract. Atchley v. First Union Bank of Florida, 576 So.2d 340, 343-4 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); CISU of Florida, Inc. v. Porter, 457 So.2d 1118, 1119 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Irving v. Doctors Hospital of Lake Worth, Inc., 415 So.2d 55, 57 n.2 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. den., 422 So.2d 842 (Fla. 1982); Mills v. Krauss, 114 So.2d 817, 819 (Fla. 2d DCA 1959), cert. den., 119 So.2d 293 (Fla.1960); Gordon v. Sanders, 692 So.2d 939, 941 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997); Metrolimo, Inc. v. Lamm, 666 So.2d 552, 553 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995); U.S. Security Services Corporation v. Ramada Inn, Inc., 665 So.2d 268, 270-1 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995); City of Coral Gables v. Prats, 502 So.2d 969,

971 (Fla. 3d DCA), <u>rev. den.</u>, 511 So.2d 297 (Fla. 1987); <u>Jaar v. University of Miami</u>, 474 So.2d 239, 243-4 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), <u>rev. den.</u>, 484 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1986).

Claims against an HMO for its vicarious liability for the negligence of its contracting physicians are not preempted by ERISA. See, In re Estate of Frappier, 678 So.2d 884, 886-7 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); Pappas v. Asbel, 768 A.2d 1089 (Pa. 2001); Hinterlong v. Baldwin, 720 N.E.2d 315 (Ill. App. 1999). Cf. Lazorko v. Pennsylvania Hospital, 237 F.2d 242 (3d Cir. 2000); In re: U.S. Healthcare, Inc., 193 F.3d 151 (3d Cir. 1999); Rice v. Pachal, 65 F.3d 637 (7th Cir. 1995); Pacificare of Oklahoma, Inc. v. Burrage, 59 F.3d 151 (10th Cir. 1995); Dukes v. U.S. Healthcare, Inc., 57 F.3d 350 (3d Cir. 1995); Paterno v. Albuerne, 855 F.Supp. 1263 (S.D. Fla. 1994).

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I.

THE PROVISION OF COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH CARE IS A NON-DELEGABLE DUTY MAKING PRUCARE LIABLE FOR THE NEGLIGENCE OF THE PRUCARE PHYSICIANS.

PruCare delegated its statutory and contractual responsibilities "to provide medical care to its members" to the "Prudential physicians" who were each

negligent in rendering or in failing to render health care to Susan Villazon. PruCare has vicarious liability for the malpractice committed by Prudential's "Primary Care Physician," other "Participating Physicians," "Participating Health Care Providers," and "Consultants" under its non-delegable duty to provide comprehensive health care, and the agency relationship between PruCare and the several health care providers. See, Orlando Regional Medical Center, Inc. v. Chmielewski, 573 So.2d 876, 879-80 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), rev, den., 583 So.2d 1034, 1036 (Fla. 1991); Irving v. Doctors Hospital of Lake Worth, Inc., 415 So.2d 55 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. den., 422 So.2d 842 (Fla. 1982); Webb v. Priest, 413 So.2d 43, 47 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

All HMO's are "health care providers" under Chapter 766, Medical Malpractice Section 766.102(1), Florida Statutes (2000) (adopting by reference Section 768.50(2)(b), repealed). By statutory definition, every Health Maintenance Organization, "Provides emergency care, inpatient hospital services, physician care . . . diagnostic treatment, and preventive health care services." Section 641.19(13), Florida Statutes (2000). All Health Maintenance Contracts are contracts "to provide comprehensive health care services in exchange for a prepaid . . . fixed sum." Section 641.19(12), Florida Statutes (2000).

There are three types of HMO's — the Staff Model, the Individual Practice Association Model, and the Combination Model. See, Florida Administrative Code, 4-191.024(4),(12),(21). There is no statutory, regulatory, or judicial exceptions or exclusions for IPA model HMO's, HMO's that contract with individual physicians and delegate provision of comprehensive health care to these physicians. The only distinction found is that an HMO with employed physicians must provide medical malpractice insurance for both itself and its employed physicians. An IPA model HMO must provide a minimum \$1,000,000 malpractice insurance for itself, and require in its contracts that its contract physicians also carry malpractice insurance. See, Florida Administrative Code, 4-191.069. If IPA model HMO's were immune from malpractice claims because their doctors are independent contractors, they would have no need for separate regulated minimum malpractice coverage. The regulation reflects recognition of HMO responsibility for malpractice committed by its doctors.

Under Section 641.17, et seq., Florida Statutes (2000), PruCare has a statutory and contractual duty to provide its subscribers with comprehensive health care. Providing comprehensive health care was a non-delegable duty owed by PruCare to Susan Villazon for which PruCare cannot escape liability, regardless of

whether the Prudential Health Care Providers are deemed "agents" or "independent contractors."

Quoting hornbook and turn of the century case law, the Second District in Mills v. Krauss, 114 So.2d 817, 819 (Fla. 2d DCA 1959), cert. den., 119 So.2d 293 (Fla.1960), sets out the following settled principles:

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