IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NUMBER SC01-1397 ROLANDO VILLAZON, as Personal Representative of the Estate of SUSAN COHEN VILLAZON, deceased, Petitioner, VS. PRUDENTIAL HEALTH CARE PLAN, INC., Respondent. ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Steven M. Ziegler, Esquire Andres Gonzalez, Esquire Counsel for PRUDENTIAL LAW OFFICES OF STEVEN M. ZIEGLER, P.A. 4000 Hollywood Boulevard Suite 375 South Hollywood, Florida 33021

(954) 966-2696

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

_

⁴ Plaintiff has not contested at any stage in these proceedings, and does not contest now, that the employer-sponsored Plan established and maintained by Valdes-Fauli was an ERISA welfare benefit plan. (R. Vol. II, 207-212, R. Vol. V, 1-48). Accordingly, the portion of the Amicus Brief asserting that this case does not involve an ERISA plan violates established law as to what issues can be presented in an Amicus Brief and should be ignored. See <u>Higbee v. Housing Authority of Jacksonville</u>, 197 So. 479 (Fla. 1940); <u>Turner v. Tokai Financial Servs. Inc.</u>, 767 So.2d 494 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); <u>Acton II v. Ft. Lauderdale Hosp.</u>, 418 So.2d 1099 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

Ct. 2890, 77 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1983) Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. v. Massachusetts, 471 U.S 724, 105 S. Ct. 2380, 85 L. Ed.2d 728 (1985)

Moreover, in New York State Conf. Of Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. Travelers Inc. Co., 514 U.S. 645, 115 S.Ct. 1671, 131 L.Ed.2d 695 (1995), the Supreme Court reaffirmed its opinion that ERISA's purpose is to avoid multiplicity of regulation and further held that laws that mandate employee benefit structures are preempted under Section 514 of ERISA. In Travelers, the Supreme Court addressed whether ERISA preempted a New York statute, which required collection of surcharges from patients not covered by Blue Cross and Blue Shield.

As part of its ruling, the United States Supreme Court in <u>Travelers</u> specifically distinguished the case with cases based on claims that directly deal with the administration of benefits or structure of an ERISA plan. The Supreme Court recognized that Congress' intent in enacting ERISA was to avoid a multiplicity of regulation in order to permit a nationally uniform administration of employee benefit plans. <u>Id.</u> at 1678. The Court specifically approved its previous decisions, such as in <u>Shaw</u>, <u>supra</u>; wherein it ruled that ERISA preempted claims that mandated employee benefit structures or administration. <u>Id.</u> Additionally, the Supreme Court held that claims requiring alternative enforcement mechanisms also relate to ERISA plans and also opined that a state law that might produce an indirect economic impact, so as to

force an ERISA plan to adopt a certain scheme of coverage where it effectively restricted the choice of insurers, is preempted by Section 514. <u>Travelers</u> at 1683.

B. Plaintiff's Claims Against PRUDENTIAL are Preempted

The preemption of Plaintiff's claims is consistent with the test articulated by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Travelers</u> because it would mandate drastic changes in the core managed care benefit structure of this Plan. The Appellate Court understood that based on Plaintiff's allegations and the record evidence, that PRUDENTIAL could only be held liable by a trier of fact through an examination and interpretation of the Plan benefit design, as all of Plaintiff's claims attacked the structure and administration of the Plan.

A determination that ERISA does not preempt state law in this context would force a complete restructuring of this Plan and other similarly situated plans, as they would be liable for the acts of thousands of medical providers, whether contracted or not, on a daily basis. That would transform PRUDENTIAL's role from an administrator of coverage benefits (i.e., payment) into a guarantor of the medical care being provided by all sorts of independent health care professionals delivering services far from PRUDENTIAL's supervision. The enormous potential liability imposed by such a ruling would have the economic effect of forcing these plans to adopt a

different scheme of coverage and effectively restrict the plan beneficiaries' choice of insurers, as this liability would necessarily force PRUDENTIAL, and other insurers, to stop offering this benefit structure to employer sponsored plans. Furthermore, to allow a cause of action like this in Florida would create a multiplicity of regulation whereby different states would be interpreting their state laws on vicarious liability in different ways, thereby destroying the uniformity across state lines envisioned by ERISA.

The first step in the analysis that leads to the inescapable conclusion that Plaintiff's claims are preempted by Section 514 of ERISA is to understand the true nature of the claims against PRUDENTIAL. As the Appellate Court properly concluded, and Plaintiff clearly acknowledges, this is not a case in which Plaintiff is alleging that Defendant did anything wrong in connection with the health care provided. Instead, Plaintiff sets forth a medical malpractice claim against the independent health care providers, who allegedly rendered the negligent care, failed to treat, and failed to obtain diagnostic tests. Plaintiff then attempts to hold PRUDENTIAL liable on theories of agency by alleging that the structure of the employer's plan makes PRUDENTIAL liable for the acts of the former co-Defendant independent contracted providers. In the alternative, Plaintiff claims that if there is no vicarious liability, PRUDENTIAL is still liable pursuant to breach of a non-delegable duty allegedly created by the Plan.

Throughout this lawsuit, Plaintiff has pointed out the differences between an insurer and an IPA HMO under Florida law. Plaintiff argues that if health coverage is provided through an indemnity insurer, there are no administrative regulations such as the ones alleged to exist in this Plan, and an insurer would not be vicariously liable because the insured would be free to seek health care anywhere, anytime, and without reference to any structure. Plaintiff's attempt to demonstrate "control" in an IPA HMO setting, which is the structure of benefits chosen by the Plan, conclusively shows that it is the Plaintiff's own contention that it is the structure of the Plan that serves as the basis for liability. This being the case, Plaintiff's claims are preempted under ERISA. Travelers, Inc. Co., supra; Pilot Life, supra; Metropolitan Life Ins., supra; Foott v. Stempel, D.O., et al., No. 99-7087 (S.D. Fla. Nov. 22, 1999) (R. Vol. IV, 662, R. Vol. VI, 787-797); Jass v. Prudential Healthcare Plan, Inc., 88 F.3d 1482 (7th Cir. 1996).

In <u>Foott</u>, the court specifically held that agency claims against an HMO are preempted when they directly implicate the administration of benefits. The plaintiffs in <u>Foott</u> specifically alleged that the HMO limited the plaintiffs' use of the plan by requiring them to utilize those physicians and hospitals listed in the provider directory, by controlling the health care providers through practice guidelines, and by

discouraging the use of specialists.

Like in <u>Foott</u>, Plaintiff directly attacks PRUDENTIAL's administration of benefits pursuant to the structure of the Plan. Here, Plaintiff argues that PRUDENTIAL's implementation of the benefit structure for eligibility of benefits under the Plan exposed it to liability because PRUDENTIAL allegedly: 1) controlled the referral process and required that pre-authorization be obtained prior to the performance of diagnostic tests and procedures; 2) required physicians to provide and arrange health care services through contracted providers; and 3) limited access to specified physicians. (R. Vol. I, 22-28, R. Vol. II, 208-210, R. Vol. V, 7-9, 11, 13-16, 17-20, 30, 32-33).

These are the exact elements of the benefit eligibility structure created by the Certificate of Coverage provided to each beneficiary of the Plan established and maintained by Valdes-Fauli, including SUSAN VILLAZON. (R. Vol. VI, 706-744). The Plan Certificate of Coverage specifically states that all covered benefits must be furnished by a primary care physician or by another participating or non-participating provider authorized by the primary care physician. (R. Vol. VI, 706-744). In addition, the Plan specifically states that certain services and supplies must be authorized by a medical director in order to be covered. (R. Vol. VI, 706-744). Therefore, just as the court in Foott, the Appellate Court correctly concluded that Plaintiff's agency claims

against PRUDENTIAL were preempted.

Similarly, in <u>Jass</u>, <u>supra</u>, the plaintiff brought an action against the HMO alleging that it was liable for the acts of co-defendant medical providers. The court held that both claims were preempted by ERISA and stated that:

In this case, both of Jass' vicarious liability claims against PruCare for Dr. Anderson's alleged negligence (Counts I and II) directly "relate to" the Plan. The Plan listed Dr. Anderson as a physician and provided a higher level of benefits if participants sought treatment from him. If an agency relationship existed between PruCare and Dr. Anderson, as Jass alleged, it was solely as a result of the Prucare's health care plan of which Jass was a participant. Without a benefit plan, PruCare would have no need for a relationship with Dr. Anderson and Jass would probably not have sought treatment from him. Additionally, to determine whether an actual or apparent agency relationship existed between Dr. Anderson and PruCare would require an examination of the health care benefit plan to determine the relationship between Dr. Anderson, PruCare and Jass. Id. at 1493.

As stated above, the Plan in this case specifically mandated that in order for services to be covered, they needed to be provided by a primary care physician or a physician authorized by a primary care physician. (R. Vol. VI, 706-744). Additionally, the Plan specifically mandated that covered services be provided by independent contractors and that each provider, including DR. SARNOW, maintain the provider-patient relationship and be solely responsible to the beneficiaries for the services furnished. (R. Vol. VI, 706-744). Just as in <u>Jass</u>, Plaintiff's agency claims must be

DR. SARNOW and PRUDENTIAL, pursuant to its benefit structure. Additionally, the Plan provided for coverage if participating or authorized providers rendered the services. Therefore, just as in <u>Jass</u>, it is solely due to the benefit structure created by the Plan that there is a relationship between DR. SARNOW and PRUDENTIAL.

The recent decision in Krasny v. Aetna Life Ins. Co. & Aetna U.S. Healthcare, Inc. et. al., 2001 WL 710048 (M.D. Fla. 2001) further supports the conclusion that Plaintiff's claims based on the administrative structure of the Plan and administrative decisions by PRUDENTIAL are preempted by ERISA. In Krasny, the plaintiff filed an action against the managed care organization seeking to hold it liable for the health care providers on a theory of agency. The plaintiff alleged that the organization was liable because it required the decedent to be examined by "gatekeeping" health care providers before authorizing necessary medical treatment.

In ruling that the agency claims were preempted, the court's analysis focused on determining whether the complaint was entirely an attack on the quality of the care provided or whether, at least in part, the complaint targeted the benefits structure under the terms of the plan. Even though the court recognized that some of the allegations attacked the quality of the care, there were other allegations that could not be

described as an attack on the quality of care, but instead targeted the benefit eligibility structure under the plan.

Even though Plaintiff continues to categorize this case as a medical malpractice case against PRUDENTIAL and makes mention of the quality of care provided by DR. SARNOW, an independent contractor, the fact is that the agency claims set forth against Defendant attacked exclusively the benefit structure developed by the Plan that utilizes primary physicians, participating providers, and the determination of covered benefits through authorization procedures.

Pursuant to the preemption analysis developed above, the inescapable conclusion is also that Section 514 of ERISA preempts Plaintiff's alternative claims that PRUDENTIAL is liable because it breached its alleged non-delegable duty to provide comprehensive health care, as required by the terms of the Plan.⁵ As with the agency claims, these claims require the trier of fact to refer to the Plan's provisions, and therefore are preempted by ERISA. (R. Vol. I, 1-29, R. Vol. II, 207-212, R. Vol. IV, 702). In order for a trier of fact to determine if the Plan created a non-delegable duty, the trier of fact must specifically scrutinize the Plan benefit structure and interpret

⁵ A non-delegable duty claim is an alternative to vicarious liability claims in that regardless of the independent contractor relationship with the health care providers, which eliminates any vicarious liability claim, it seeks to hold PRUDENTIAL directly and strictly liable for the negligent care and treatment.

its terms as creating such a duty. This would inevitably lead to multiple administrative standards and the mandating of a benefit scheme under the Plan. These are the exact types of claims <u>Travelers</u> contemplated would be preempted by ERISA.

In fact, claims based on breach of a non-delegable duty theory have been specifically found to be preempted by ERISA, as they inherently relate to the ERISA plan. See Frappier v. Wishnov, D.O., 678 So. 2d 884 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). In Frappier, the plaintiff sued two doctors and the health maintenance organization. Count V of the Complaint against the HMO was premised on a theory of corporate liability (non-delegable duty) based on allegations that the HMO had a common law duty to provide appropriate medical care. The court held that the allegations related to the administration of the plan and were preempted by ERISA. Id. at 887.

The claim in <u>Frappier</u> was based on allegations that the terms of the ERISA plan created the non-delegable duty and that the HMO assigned the medical providers to the patients and thereby limited the access to care. Similarly, in the instant case, Plaintiff's claims of breach of a non-delegable duty are based on allegations that the Plan's terms create the non-delegable duty and that PRUDENTIAL assigned medical providers and required referrals to contracted providers, thereby limiting access to care. (R. Vol. II, 208-210). Plaintiff specifically argued before the Trial Court that PRUDENTIAL was liable, because as part of managing the health care benefits under

the Plan, PRUDENTIAL decides who provides the benefits, when the benefits are provided, where the benefits are provided, and why benefits need to be provided. (R. Vol. V, 32-33).

C. Plaintiff's Contrary Argument is Meritless

The arguments raised against preemption under Section 514, as presented in Petitioner's Main Brief and the Amicus Brief, are flawed in that they fail to understand the fundamental differences between the test for complete preemption under Section 502 and the test for ordinary or conflict preemption under Section 514, and the failure to understand the purpose behind the two Sections.

The difference in the application of these sections was best explained in <u>Krasny</u>, <u>supra</u>, wherein that court stated that, "[a]lthough they share similar titles, the doctrine of complete preemption and the doctrine of ordinary preemption present distinctly different issues – a difference not merely **in scope** but of quality." <u>Id.</u> at 3. The court also stated that "[t]he former is used to establish a federal court's jurisdiction over a case, while the latter merely provides a party with an affirmative defense to a state law claim in either federal or state court." <u>Id.</u> After which, the court went on to state that a claim that seeks to remedy a loss or denial of a benefit is completely preempted under Section 502 and removal is proper. However, if the claim only "relates to" an

ERISA plan, such a claim is not completely preempted, and the federal court would lack jurisdiction over the dispute and remand is required, "although defensive preemption would allow the defendants to prevail over such claims in state court." <u>Id.</u> at 4; <u>See also Lazarko v. Pennsylvania Hospital</u>, 237 F.3d 242, 248 (3d Cir. 2000).

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